CASE NO. SC02-2023

LOWER COURT CASE NO. 1986-04473 CFAWS

ROGER LEE CHERRY,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL P. REITER Florida Bar No. 0320234 Capital Collateral Counsel -Northern Region

LINDA McDERMOTT Assistant CCC - Northern Region Florida Bar No. 0102857 1533-B S. Monroe Street Tallahassee, FL 32301 (850) 488-7200

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Cherry was indicted on September 6, 1986, with two counts of first degree murder in the deaths of Leonard and Esther Wayne, one count of burglary with assault, and one count of grand theft (R. 1070-71). Mr. Cherry pled not guilty to the charges (R. 1072).

Mr. Cherry's capital jury trial commenced on September 22, 1987. Guilty verdicts were returned on all charges on September 24, 1987. The penalty phase began on September 25, 1987. The jury recommended a death sentence by a vote of seven to five for the first degree murder of Leonard Wayne. Additionally, the jury recommended a sentence of death by a vote of nine to three for the first degree murder of Esther Wayne (R. 1060). A sentencing hearing was held on September 26, 1987, at which time Mr. Cherry was sentenced to death for the two counts of first degree murder (R. 1067).

On direct appeal, this Court vacated the death sentence for the first degree murder of Leonard Wayne and remanded the case to the circuit court for the imposition of a life sentence without the possibility of parole for twenty-five years. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 544 So. 2d 184 (Fla. 1989). Also, this court vacated the sentences for the noncapital felony counts and remanded for re-sentencing on those counts. <u>Id</u>.

Rehearing was denied on July 7, 1989.

A writ of certiorari was denied by the United States Supreme Court on April 16, 1990. <u>Cherry v. Florida</u>, 110 S.Ct. 1835 (1990).

A motion to vacate sentence pursuant to Rule 3.850 of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure was filed on April 12, 1992. On March 12, 1993, the circuit court summarily denied all claims without an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Cherry appealed the order. This Court remanded for an evidentiary hearing on the ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase claim. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069 (Fla. 1995).

A limited evidentiary hearing was held on December 16 -19, 1996, on Mr. Cherry's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel during the penalty phase.

On January 27, 1997 the circuit court entered an order denying relief (PC-R2. 1724-36).

This Court affirmed the circuit court on September 28, 2000. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 781 So.2d 1040 (Fla. 2000). The United State Supreme Court denied a writ of certiorari on October 1, 2001. <u>Cherry v. Florida</u>, 122 S.Ct. 179 (2001).

While his case was on appeal, Mr. Cherry filed a second Rule 3.850 motion on August 6, 1997, involving claims of newly

discovered evidence and the inadmissibility and inaccuracy of scientific evidence at Mr. Cherry's trial (PC-R3. 1-158).

The circuit court summarily denied the motion on October 16, 2001 (PC-R3. 429-435). On October 25, 2001, a motion for rehearing was filed (PC-R3. 436-45). The circuit court granted the motion and ordered an evidentiary hearing on Mr. Cherry's newly discovered evidence claim (PC-R3. 446-7).

An evidentiary hearing was held on June 10, 2002. On August 12, 2002, the circuit court denied relief (PC-R3. 486-9). Mr. Cherry timely filed a notice of appeal (PC-R3. 490-1).

While Mr. Cherry's successive Rule 3.850 motion was pending, he filed another Rule 3.850 motion on April 17, 2002. Mr. Cherry's claims involved Mr. Cherry's mental retardation and <u>Apprendi v. New Jersey</u>, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2000). The State filed a response on May 7, 2002.

<u>Huff</u> hearings were held on June 10, 2002, and December 20, 2002. At the December 20, 2002, hearing, the lower court ordered the State to file a motion requesting this Court to relinquish jurisdiction. That motion is pending before this Court for consideration with this initial brief.

The lower court also held Mr. Cherry's retardation claim in abeyance until this Court promulgates a rule regarding the

procedure for proving capital postconviction defendants retarded or not retarded.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. INTRODUCTION

At trial, the State's case rested on the premise that the burglary of the Wayne's home and their murders were committed by one person, Roger Cherry.

Mr. Cherry was convicted and sentenced to death for the murders of Leonard and Esther Wayne. During his trial, the State's case focused on Lorraine Neloms. Neloms was Mr. Cherry's girlfriend at the time of the crimes. Neloms was also the niece of James Terry. Terry was the original suspect in the Waynes' murders. Neloms' testimony regarding Mr. Cherry's statements about robbing and beating an elderly couple in conjunction with her statements regarding items stolen from the Waynes' was the strongest evidence linking Mr. Cherry to the crimes.

Additionally, a partial fingerprint found outside of the house, a questionable palm print inside the house and blood drops outside of the house were the only proof that Mr. Cherry had been near the Waynes' house. Bloodstains, other fingerprints, and a hair found in the room where Esther Wayne was murdered did not match the victims or Mr. Cherry.

Newly discovered evidence, obtained shortly before the first evidentiary hearing, consisted of a confession by Terry

to Levester Hill about the Waynes' murders.

Peter Mills, postconviction counsel for Mr. Cherry, attempted to introduce this evidence at the 1996 evidentiary hearing, but the lower court prohibited the evidence from being presented, ruling that it was outside the scope of the limited evidentiary hearing authorized by this Court. Mr. Mills timely filed a successive Rule 3.850 motion to include this new evidence.

At the evidentiary hearing, evidence was presented about Terry's confession. The lower court refused to consider evidence which corroborated Mr. Hill and undermined the testimony of Terry.

B. THE TRIAL RECORD

Trial counsel, David Miller, was appointed to represent Mr. Cherry due to a conflict with the Volusia County Public Defender's Office (R. 1097). At the time of his appointment, Mr. Miller had never tried a capital murder case (PC-R2. 49). In fact, his field of expertise consisted of wrongful death and personal injury law (PC-R2. 50).

On June 22, 1987, Mr. Miller filed a motion for the appointment of a forensic pathologist, serologist, and a microanalyst to test the validity of the State's assertions about the forensic evidence taken from the Waynes' residence

and car (R. 1079). However, the court never ruled as to whether Mr. Miller would be granted those experts.

During the State's opening statement, the jury was told:

And on this evening when Mrs. Wayne was in bed and Mr. Wayne was watching television, Roger Cherry went to their house, cut the telephone wire so that no one could make a telephone call from that house. And in the course of cutting that telephone wire, cut himself and proceeded to drip blood all the way around the house to the point of entry where several jalousie windows were removed from the screen porch.

And the State's evidence will be during the course of the trial that these windows were recovered, that blood was found on these windows and that fingerprints were found on these windows and those fingerprints matched up to Roger Cherry.

Roger Cherry cut the screen, removed the windows and entered the house. . . As he entered this bedroom, Mrs. Wayne woke up and there was some sort of struggle or some sort of a confrontation and the bottom line is that Mrs. Wayne, essentially, was beaten to death.

(R. 285-6).

The State's key witness was Lorraine Neloms, Mr. Cherry's girlfriend. Neloms testified that she met Mr. Cherry through her uncle, James Terry, and they became romantically involved (R. 426-7). In June, 1986, Mr. Cherry and Neloms lived together in an apartment on Garfield (R. 427). On June 27, 1986, the evening of the crimes, Neloms testified that Mr. Cherry left their apartment after 11:30 p.m., and told her that he needed money and was going to the Armory (R. 430-1). Approximately an hour later, Mr. Cherry returned and his hand

was cut (R. 432). He had rifles and a wallet (R. 432, 434). Neloms saw that the wallet contained a license with the name "Wayne" on it (R. 435). Neloms told the jury that a short while later, Mr. Cherry left and attempted to use the bank card. He returned shortly thereafter, and told Neloms that the card was stuck in the machine (R. 436). The next day, Mr. Cherry pointed out the abandoned car that he stole from the Waynes' (R. 436-7).

Neloms further testified that Mr. Cherry admitted going into the Waynes' home: "The lady like tried to fight him or something and he hit her and pushed the man and grabbed his chest and he found their car keys and took their car" (R. 437). However, Neloms stated that Mr. Cherry denied killing anyone (R. 438-9).

On cross examination, Neloms admitted that no guns or wallet were ever found at their residence (R. 452). She did not see Mr. Cherry remove them from the residence (R. 451-2). Neloms admitted that she continued to see Mr. Cherry in jail after his arrest (R. 443). And, although she claimed that she was afraid of him, she wrote love letters to him explaining why she turned Mr. Cherry in to the police and her regret at having done so (R. 1148-64). She stopped visiting Mr. Cherry only after the State told her it would hurt their case for her

to continue to see him (R. 443).

As to the physical evidence, the State presented testimony that the point of entry into the Wayne's home was through the opening where the jalousie windows were removed (R. 159, 198). Investigator John Bradley explained that three jalousie window panes were removed and placed twenty to twenty-five feet away from the house, in the bushes (R. 498).

There appeared to be blood on the window panes and the sidewalk near the phone line (R. 501). At the time of his arrest, Mr. Cherry had a severe cut on his right thumb (R. 514-5). The State's theory was that Mr. Cherry cut his thumb while cutting the telephone wire before entering the Waynes' house (R. 285).

The State presented testimony that blood found outside the Waynes' house was consistent with Mr. Cherry's blood type (R. 637-8, 640-1). The blood was found on the jalousie window panes, a paper bag left near the point of entry into the Waynes' house, and a trail of blood near the house leading to where the Waynes parked their car (R. 638, 642). In the Waynes' car, a towel with blood on it was consistent with Mr. Cherry's blood type (R. 647-8). Additionally, Mr. Cherry's fingerprint was found on the jalousie window pane and on a metal plate found in the trunk of the Waynes' car (R. 687).

The State also introduced evidence that the Waynes' bank card and credit card were captured in the automatic teller machine on June 28, 1986, at 1:58 a.m. (R. 474-5, 481).

The State's only piece of physical evidence linking Mr. Cherry to the inside of the house was a palm print, which matched with Mr. Cherry. However, the palm print was explained as being in two different places depending upon which crime scene analyst was questioned. On direct examination, Daniel Radcliffe, crime scene analyst, stated that Terrell Kingery, latent fingerprint analyst, processed the doorframe for prints and developed the prints found (R. 562). On cross examination, Daniel Radcliffe testified:

Q: You have indicated, also that that print, believe you said, was four and a half feet above the floor?

A: Approximately four feet, yes.

Q: Can you tell the members of the jury which side of the door casing it was on?

A: As you are looking into the room from the hallway, it would be on the left side of the door.

Q: Inside, where is it? Can you tell us where it is exactly?

A: It was on the doorjamb itself and, if I recall, it was kind of in the middle area of the doorjamb.

Q: Is this the photograph you previously attached?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Can you point out to me where that was?

A: Yes sir. It would be another approximately eight inches to ten inches about this side of the door.

Q: It was on the right-hand side or the lefthand side of the door, depending on which way you look?

A: If you're inside the bedroom, then it would be on the right-hand side.

(R. 580). However, Radcliffe's testimony conflicts with the deposition of Terrell Kingery in which Kingery states that the palm print was on the bedroom side of the door frame:

Q: There is a picture of the man's legs sticking out of the bedroom. In other words, we're looking from the living room side towards the bedroom and the prints, if I understand, is on the other side of this door frame, is that correct, or do you know? Here, let me find another shot of the door frame from the inside.

A: Now, this is the living room here, though, right?

Q: Yes. Whoever took the picture is standing out in what was the living room area just in front of the TV, really.

A: Then the print should have been -Q: On the other side of the frame?A: Yes.

Q: I don't see another shot. These are all autopsy photos, they're not going to do us any good. Well, here's the bottom of it. It looks like that is taken from what appears to be the bedroom side. A: That is correct.

Q: And there is the chest of drawers. The print would have been -

A: It should have been on the frame outside the portion here, up in this area here. (Indicating).

John Bradley, Chief Crime Scene Analyst, stated that the palm print was taken from the bedroom side of the doorjamb.

Q: Was that a closet door frame?

A: No. The actual door frame facing of the doorway between the bedroom and the hallway and then I understand the print was found on the bedroom side of the facing.

Q: And Radcliffe, I believe, was in charge of that, he would have been responsible for having lifted that. Right?

A: I believe he did yes.

Q: Do you remember whether it was just a latent print or was it a bloody smudge or what?

A: As I recall, I did not see any bloody smudges there, it would have been a latent.

(R. 1582 Deposition of John Bradley p. 37).

Other evidence was presented at trial that suggested someone else had to be present at the scene of the crime. Shoe prints found on the female victim's pajama bottoms did not match Mr. Cherry's shoes (R. 544). Fingerprints were found throughout the house that matched neither of the victims or Mr. Cherry (R. 737). A head hair which was of African American origin was found at the crime scene but did not match Mr. Cherry (R. 802-3). Testimony from Ms. Neloms revealed that Mr. Cherry had no blood on him when he returned home August 26, 1986 (R. 448).

Priscilla Daniels testified during the defense's case that on the morning of June 28, 1986, she saw a man looking inside the Wayne's abandoned car (R. 752). She testified: "He walked around the car, looked inside the windows and he walked back like he was going to leave, walking the opposite way." (R. 754). She identified the man that she saw as James Terry (R. 755).

Mr. Cherry testified on his own behalf during the guilt phase of the trial (R. 820). He denied being at the Waynes' house the night of the murder (R. 844). Trial counsel called no witnesses to support Mr. Cherry's testimony. While focusing on Jack Baumgartner, Jr., the victims' former son-inlaw, as the possible murderer, he call no other witnesses or introduced evidence to support this assertion.

The jury found Mr. Cherry guilty as charged (R. 1029-30).

The following morning, the jury reconvened for the penalty phase. The State presented no evidence.

As to mitigation, Mr. Miller introduced Dr. Barnard's report (R. 1037-38). Dr. Barnard's scope of appointment was

to determine Mr. Cherry's competence to stand trial and his sanity at the time of the incident (R. 1092). Mr. Miller provided no background information which would have included information regarding the atrocious and brutal childhood Mr. Cherry experienced (PC-R2. 192). The only information Dr. Barnard received for his evaluation were police reports (PC-R2. 192). Dr. Barnard met with Mr. Cherry once, on August 11, 1987, for two hours (R. 1092). No further investigation into Mr. Cherry's background was done (PC-R2. 192). Dr. Barnard did no formal psychological testing on Mr. Cherry (PC-R2. 2105). Throughout the time of his assessment, Dr. Barnard spoke and/or met with Mr. Miller twice (PC-R2. 2105-06).

Defense counsel introduced no other evidence at the penalty phase. In his closing argument, trial counsel referred to biblical passages in urging the jury to recommend life (R. 1050-3).

The jury recommended the death sentence by a seven to five vote for the death of Mr. Wayne and a nine to three vote for the death of Mrs. Wayne (R. 1061-2). The trial court immediately sentenced Mr. Cherry to two counts of death (R. 1067).

C. THE DIRECT APPEAL

This Court affirmed Mr. Cherry's convictions and vacated

the sentence of death for Mr. Wayne and the non-capital sentences and remanded for resentencing. <u>Cherry v. State</u>, 544 So. 2d 184, 185 (Fla. 1989).

This Court also found that Mr. Cherry's jury and sentencing judge had improperly doubled the pecuniary gain and the crime was committed during the commission of a burglary aggravators. <u>Id</u>. at 187. However, this Court found that the error was harmless "[i]n the absence of any mitigating factors." <u>Id</u>. at 188.

In finding that the heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravator applied, this Court noted: "there was a shoe print on the back of Mrs. Wayne's pajama bottom with a corresponding bruise on her right buttock. The medical examiner concluded that the injuries received by Mrs. Wayne were severe and must have been inflicted with great force." Id. at 188.

D. THE 1991 - 1993 3.850 PROCEEDINGS

In 1991, the Volunteer Legal Resource Center (VLRC) was assigned to represent Mr. Cherry in his postconviction appeals. During that time, volunteer counsel from Holland and Hart in Denver, Colorado, worked in conjunction with VLRC. Ann Jacobs, a staff attorney with VLRC was assigned to represent Mr. Cherry and prepare his initial Rule 3.850 motion (PC-R3. 634). Mr. Cherry's postconviction counsel filed his

initial Rule 3.850 motion in April, 1992 (PC-R. 46-426). Twenty claims were pleaded in the motion focusing primarily on the ineffective assistance of trial counsel both in the guilt and penalty phases. Guilt phase claims focused on the lack of investigation into other suspects like James Terry, the bias on the part of Lorraine Neloms, and the failure to follow-up on the request for forensic assistance to rebut the State's testimony (PC-R. 242-274).

Mr. Cherry's initial Rule 3.850 motion contained the following:

78. Trial counsel failed to show that the state did not follow up on evidence suggesting that someone other than Mr. Cherry killed the Waynes. He also failed to argue that if Mr. Cherry was indeed involved in burglarizing the Waynes' home, he was not alone and he never went into the house. Finally, he failed to present evidence that Mr. Cherry was high on crack cocaine and alcohol that night.

79. It was no secret that James Terry was a suspect in this case. The same day that the police discovered that the Waynes were dead and that their home had been burglarized, the police learned from Priscilla Daniels that she had seen a man, acting suspiciously, walking around the victims' abandoned She saw this man - James Terry - around the car. car early on the morning after the Waynes were killed, Saturday, June 28, 1986. When she drove by later, there was no one around the car. When she drove by a third time, she saw the police cars around the victims' car and she informed them that the man she had seen around the car was James Terry, whom she knew by sight. She also knew where he lived, and she gave [the] police directions to Terry's house. The police went to Terry's house and questioned him as to his presence at the victims'

car. Terry claimed that he was looking for bottles and cans to collect and that he just happened upon the car. (He used his own car to get there). Terry signed a statement to the police to that effect.

While questioning Terry, the police noticed 80. Terry's shoes in his apartment and asked him if those were the shoes he was wearing when he walked around the car. Terry said they were, and the police asked Terry if they could take the shoes in so that they could eliminate him as a suspect. Terry complied. The police took Terry's shoes, photographed the soles, and J.D. Brown, an evidence custodian at the Deland Police Department, luminaled the shoes to determine whether there was any blood on them. It is unclear what, if any, expertise J.D. Brown has in luminaling shoes. (Roger Cherry's shoes were submitted to the FDLE Crime Lab to see if his shoes had blood on them). The results of the blood on Terry's shoes were said to be negative, although there us no report of any kind concerning the results of that luminal test. The photographs taken of the soles of Terry's shoes are also missing. His shoes are no longer available, Terry having thrown them into a garbage dumpster. See Apps. 73 and 80.

81. The police then brought Terry's shoes back to him later that evening and apologized for bothering him. They asked him if he knew anything about the murders, to which he responded that he did not. App. 80.

82. Despite the fact that Terry was seen around the car and that the police were suspicious enough to test his shoes for the presence of blood, the police went no further in investigating Terry's involvement. The police knew that there was a negroid hair recovered from the victims' bedroom, a hair located directly above the body of Esther Wayne. The police, had they checked, would have discovered that Mr. Terry had a long criminal record.

83. Nor did the police bother to obtain Terry's fingerprints, although such prints were readily available in light of Mr. Terry's criminal record. Although 29 latent lift cards were taken from the scene of the crime, the police never bothered to run Mr. Terry's prints. As Terrell Kingery, the State's fingerprint expert, testified in his deposition, the only fingerprint comparisons were on Roger Cherry, Leonard Wayne and Esther Wayne. App. 53.

84. James Terry is Lorraine Neloms' uncle. In fact, Lorraine Neloms' maiden name was Lorraine Terry.

85. When Mr. Terry was deposed by David Miller, he was extremely defensive. Without any suggestion from Miller that Terry was involved in the crime, Terry immediately volunteered that he had an alibi for that night. In his July 7, 1987 deposition, James Terry testified to the following:

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