IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROGER LEE CHERRY,
Appellant,

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. SC02-2023

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Fla. Bar #998818
444 Seabreeze Blvd. 5th FL
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
(386) 238-4990
Fax # (386) 226-0457
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The "newly discovered evidence" claim contained in Cherry's brief is not only time-barred, but also is meritless, and the Circuit Court found. Competent substantial evidence supports the trial court's denial of relief on two independently adequate grounds, and that decision should not be disturbed.

The "inaccurate scientific evidence" claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal. To the extent that Cherry claims that the scientific evidence should have been the subject of a Frye hearing, that claim is procedurally barred because it could have been but was not raised at trial, on

direct appeal, or in Cherry's prior post-conviction proceeding. The Circuit Court properly denied relief on this procedurally barred claim without an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. THE "NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE" CLAIM IS NOT ONLY TIME-BARRED, BUT ALSO MERITLESS, AS THE CIRCUIT COURT FOUND.

On pages 41-59 of his brief, Cherry argues that the Circuit Court was wrong when it denied relief on his "newly discovered evidence" claim on the alternative grounds of time bar and lack of merit. Both of these discrete grounds for denial of relief are reviewed under the competent substantial evidence standard. See, Diaz v. Dugger, 179 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998); Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1252 (Fla. 1998) ("As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, 'this Court will not "substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court."'"); Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159

¹The Circuit Court's primary basis for denial of relief was the time-bar (or procedural bar) to consideration of this claim. The lack of merit was a secondary, alternative basis for denial of relief. Either is sufficient, standing alone, to foreclose relief on this claim.

(Fla. 1998) (Sitting as the trier of fact, the trial judge has the superior vantage point to see and hear the witnesses and judge their credibility); *Melendez v. State*, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998).

In finding that Cherry's "newly discovered evidence" claim was untimely, the Circuit Court stated:

Specifically, Defendant alleges that James Terry, known as "Woody", confessed to Levester Hill that he was involved in the killings of Leonard and Esther Wayne, the crimes for which Defendant was convicted. Mr. Hill signed an affidavit to this effect August 9, 1996, and it was submitted to this Court along with the Motion for Rehearing. Αt evidentiary hearing, Peter Mills, lead attorney in Defendant's case in August of 1996, testified that he sent Monica Jordan, a.k.a. Monica Conklin, to interview Mr. Hill to see if he had any relevant information. Mr. Mills was preparing for evidentiary hearing on the penalty phase ineffective assistance of counsel claims, which were remanded to the trial court. [citation omitted]. Ms. testified that she interviewed Levester Hill August 9, 1996 and during the interview, Mr. Hill told her he had additional information about the case. She testified that Mr. Hill informed her that James Terry had told him that Defendant did not commit the murders for which he was convicted of; that he (Terry) threw his shoes out because they matched the shoe prints taken at the scene of the crime; that he (Terry) was at the scene of the crime; and that he (Terry) made his niece (Lorraine Neloms) testify against Defendant in an effort to protect himself. She testified that she promptly notified Defendant's attorneys οf this information. Mr. Mills testified that he tried to introduce Mr. Hill's affidavit at the evidentiary hearing, but his request was denied. Therefore, he decided to file a second Rule 3.850 Motion.

Mr. Hill then testified at the evidentiary hearing that Defendant was a good friend of his, more so than Mr. Terry, and that he had three discussions with Mr. Terry about Defendant's case, occurring respectively in 1987, 1988, and 1994. The substance of Mr. Hill's testimony at the evidentiary hearing is consistent both with Ms. Jordan's testimony and his August 9, 1996 affidavit, except for two points. Mr. Hill testified that (1) Mr. Terry did not say that he actually went into the house on the night of the murder and (2) no explanation was given by Mr. Terry regarding the reason for Ms. Neloms' trial testimony. Mr. Terry also testified and denied the allegations made by Mr. Hill. Mr. Terry testified that (1) he did not tell Mr. Hill that Defendant did not commit the murders; (2) he never told Mr. Hill that he threw his shoes away because they matched the prints found at the scene; (3) he never told Mr. Hill he was at the crime scene; and (4) he never told Ms. Neloms what to say in Court.

To establish a claim of newly discovered evidence, Defendant must show: (i) the newly discovered evidence was unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial and could not have been discovered through due diligence; and (ii) the newly discovered evidence must be of such a nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915-16 (Fla. 1991). The actual confession in this case was unknown at the time of trial because it allegedly made, piecemeal, beginning in 1987, after Defendant was convicted. Although the last "piece" of the alleged confession was made in 1994, it did not come to counsel's attention until August 1996, when defense counsel was preparing for the evidentiary hearing to be held in December of 1996, as ordered by the Florida Supreme Court. Defendant has only one(1) year from the date the evidence was discovered or could have been discovered to file a Rule 3.850 Motion. Glock v. Moore, 776 So. 2d 243, 251 (Fla. 2001); *Jones*, 591 So. 2d at 915-16. Therefore, the Court finds that at the very least, this "newly discovered evidence" could have been

discovered, by due diligence, in 1994 and brought to the Court's attention within one year from that date. Thus, the Court finds that Defendant has not successfully demonstrated that the "evidence" Accordingly, newly discovered. this claim untimely. See, Glock, 776 So. 2d at 251 (any claim of newly discovered evidence in a death penalty case must be brought within one year of the date such evidence was discovered or could have discovered through the exercise of due diligence); Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d at 917; Mills, Jr. v. State, 684 So. 2d 801 (Fla. 1996) (Mills must show in his motion for relief both that his evidence could not have been discovered with the exercise of reasonable diligence and that the motion was filed within one year of the discovery of evidence upon which avoidance of the time limit was based).

(R486-8.)

The Circuit Court's order is supported by competent substantial evidence, and should be affirmed in all respects.

As this Court has held in resolving similar time-barred "new evidence claims":

Therefore, we find our statement in $Steinhorst\ v$. State, 695 So. 2d 1245 (Fla. 1997), to be applicable here in respect to the due diligence issue:

When the evidence adequately supports two conflicting theories, this Court's duty is to review the record in the light most favorable to the prevailing theory. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 637, 642 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1159, 116 S.Ct. 1550, 134 L.Ed.2d 653 (1996). Under that standard, we will not alter a trial court's factual findings if the record contains competent, substantial evidence to support those findings.

Steinhorst, 695 So. 2d at 1248. Also applicable is

our statement in *Melendez v. State*, 718 So. 2d 746 (Fla. 1998):

First, to qualify as newly discovered evidence, "the asserted facts must have been unknown by the trial court, by the party, or by counsel at the time of trial, and it must appear that defendant or his counsel could not have known them by the use of diligence." Second, to prompt a new trial, "the newly discovered evidence must be of such nature that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial."

In reviewing a trial court's application of the above law to a rule 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing, this Court applies the following standard of review: As long as the trial court's findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, "this Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court on questions of fact, likewise of the credibility of the witnesses as well as the weight to be given to the evidence by the trial court."

Id. at 1251 (footnotes omitted) (quoting
Jones v. State, 591 So. 2d 911, 915, 916
(Fla. 1991), and Demps v. State, 462 So. 2d
1074, 1075 (Fla. 1984)).

Melendez, 718 So. 2d at 747-48 (quoting Blanco v. State, 702 So. 2d 1250, 1251 (Fla. 1997)) (emphasis added).

Accordingly, we affirm the circuit court's decision that Swafford's successive motion was untimely.

Swafford v. State, 828 So. 2d 966, 977-78 (Fla. 2002). See,

 $^{^2}$ There is no support in the evidence for Cherry's theory that he presented the purported "new evidence" in a timely fashion.

Stano v. State, 708 So.2d 271, 276 (Fla. 1998) (same); See also, King v. State, 808 So. 2d 1237, 1245 (Fla. 2002); Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512, 520 n. 6 (Fla. 1998) (finding procedural bar to claim of newly discovered evidence where claim not timely presented); Mills v. State, 786 So. 2d 547, 549-50 (Fla. 2001). The Circuit Court properly found Cherry's "new evidence" claim untimely, and properly denied relief on that basis. Competent substantial evidence supports the Circuit Court's decision, and it should not be disturbed.

Alternatively and secondarily, this claim is meritless in addition to being time-barred. In denying relief on the merits in the alternative, the Circuit Court stated:

Moreover, the Court finds that the claim should otherwise be denied on the merits. Mr. Hill's live testimony is inconsistent, albeit slightly, with his affidavit. More importantly, after hearing the testimony of all the witnesses and observing their demeanor, this Court finds that Mr. Hill's testimony is simply not credible, nor worthy of belief. The testimony of Mr. Terry, on the other hand, is more credible on key points. Porter v. State, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1004 (2001).

(R488).

Those credibility choices, which were made after an evidentiary hearing during which the Circuit Court had the opportunity to observe the witnesses and their demeanor during their testimony, are supported by competent substantial

evidence, and should not be disturbed. As this Court has long recognized, the trial courts occupy a unique vantage point when assessing the relative credibility of witnesses testifying before them. See, Blanco, supra. Cherry's brief ignores the fact that the credibility determinations were resolved adversely to his position, and, in the final analysis, his brief does no more than demonstrate his displeasure over having been denied relief. The Circuit Court's denial of relief on the merits, which was alternative and secondary to the denial on time-bar grounds, is supported by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

II. THE "INACCURATE SCIENTIFIC EVIDENCE" CLAIM
IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED BECAUSE IT COULD HAVE
BEEN BUT WAS NOT RAISED AT TRIAL, ON DIRECT
APPEAL, OR IN CHERRY'S PRIOR COLLATERAL MOTION.
DENIAL OF AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING WAS PROPER.

On pages 59-64 of his brief, Cherry argues that the Circuit Court should have allowed an evidentiary hearing on his claim that "inaccurate scientific evidence" (which is a claim based on Frye) was presented at his capital trial. What Cherry has not revealed to this Court is that the Circuit Court denied relief on this claim on procedural bar grounds. Cherry does not discuss the procedural bar finding in his brief, and has further attempted to mislead this Court by

asserting that the standard of review applicable to summarily denied claims applies to this procedurally barred claim. Despite the hyperbole of this claim, the Circuit Court correctly found the claim foreclosed by multiple procedural bars, which were correctly found as a matter of law.

In denying relief on this claim (which was Claim III in the motion), the Circuit Court held:

Defendant's third, fourth, and fifth claims are discussed here together because the court finds all three to be claims that are procedurally barred, i.e., they all should have been raised at trial, on direct appeal, or in Defendant's first 3.850 motion. [citation omitted]. Specifically, the third claim alleges that inadmissible, inaccurate, scientific evidence was presented to Defendant's jury that violated his Fifth, Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendment rights. Defendant admits he raised this issue in his first 3.850 motion, but now seeks an evidentiary hearing to clarify the exact methods used in calculating the population frequency statistics testified to at trial by David Baer, a crime laboratory analyst in the serology section of the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) crime laboratory. Defendant wishes to challenge whether the evidence passes the Frye test. The court finds this claim to be procedurally barred because it should have been raised at trial or on direct appeal. [citations omitted].

(R433-4).

Florida law is well-settled that claims that could have been but were not raised at trial or on direct appeal are procedurally barred from review in a post-conviction motion.

Chandler v. State, 28 Fla.L.Weekly S329 (Fla. April 17, 2003);

Vining v. State, 827 So. 2d 201, 213 (Fla. 2002); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995); Garcia v. State, 622 So. 2d 1325, 1326 n. 3, 1327 n. 5 (Fla. 1993); Johnston v. Dugger, 583 So. 2d 657, 662 n. 2 (Fla. 1991); Swafford v. Dugger, 569 So. 2d 1264, 1267 (Fla.1990) ("[p]ostconviction proceedings cannot be used as a second appeal"). This claim could have been but was not raised at trial or on direct appeal, and is, as the Circuit Court found, procedurally barred at this point in the proceedings. The Circuit Court correctly denied an evidentiary hearing on this procedurally barred claim.

extent t.hat. further discussion Тο οf procedurally barred claim is necessary, Cherry raised a portion of this claim (but not the Frye part) as ineffective assistance of counsel claim in his prior Rule 3.850 motion. The Circuit Court denied relief on that quilt stage ineffective assistance of counsel claim, and this Court affirmed that ruling. Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1072 (Fla. 1995). Just as it is axiomatic that the preclusive effect of a procedural bar cannot be avoided by pleading a substantive claim as one of ineffectiveness of counsel (which Cherry did with respect to a component of this claim in his prior post-conviction proceeding), Cherry cannot obtain a

hearing (or any other relief) by pleading, for the first time in a successive Rule 3.850 motion, that certain scientific evidence should have been the subject of a Frye hearing. That claim appeared for the first time in Cherry's successive Rule 3.850 motion, and is procedurally barred for the additional reason that the claim could have been raised in Cherry's first motion for post-conviction relief. This procedurally barred claim was properly resolved against Cherry without an evidentiary hearing.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities, the Appellee respectfully requests that all requested relief be denied.